2008

John Boyle and Norrine Boyle v. Kerry Chirstensen : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction in this Court is proper pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(j).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The following issues are presented to this Court for review:

ISSUE NO. 1: Whether the trial court committed reversible error in refusing Plaintiff's request to have prospective jurors complete a brief written Jury Questionnaire that was designed, in part, to ferret out potential biases regarding tort reform, or to ask such questions orally in voir dire.

Standard of review: A trial court's management of jury voir dire is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Alcazar v. University of Utah Hospitals, et al.*, 2008 UT App 222 ¶9, 188 P.3d 490, 493; *Barrett v. Peterson*, 868 P.2d 96, 98 (Utah Ct. App. 1993).

Preservation: This issue was preserved in plaintiffs' proposed Request for Submission of a Jury Questionnaire and for Reasonable Follow Up Voir Dire. (R. 596-600; Exhibit 2.)¹

ISSUE NO. 2: Whether the trial court committed reversible error by allowing defense counsel to refer in closing argument to an unrelated lawsuit of national notoriety

¹ Plaintiff's Proposed Request for Submission of a Jury Questionnaire and for Reasonable Follow up Voir Dire are attached hereto as Addendum Exhibit 2. Perhaps because it was submitted as an attachment to correspondence, the document was not docketed at the time of its initial filing. However, defendant acknowledged receiving it (R. 436), and it was incorporated in part by the trial court (R. 536 # 1, 2, 9, 11, 14 and R. 599-600, # 5-9). To clear up the record, plaintiff subsequently resubmitted another copy of the document without objection. (R. 599-600)

that was not in evidence and that was intended to appeal to the prejudice of the jury by stating, “That’s how we get verdicts like the McDonald’s case with a cup of coffee.”

Standard of review: The trial court’s decision to allow defense counsel to refer to the McDonald’s coffee case in closing argument is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *State v. Alonzo*, 932 P.2d 606 (Utah App. 1997), and *State v. Alonzo*, 973 P.2d 975 (Utah 1998).

Preservation: Plaintiff objected on the record at the time of the prejudicial statement. (R. 695, p. 48:17-23)

ISSUE NO. 3: Whether the trial court committed reversible error by granting Defendant’s pre-trial Motion in Limine to Dismiss Norrine Boyle’s loss of consortium claims under Utah Code Ann. § 30-2-11.

Standard of review: The trial court’s order is reviewed for correctness, with no deference given to the trial court. *Rinderknecht v. Luck*, 965 P.2d 564 (Utah App. 1998).

Preservation: These issues were raised in Plaintiffs’ Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant’s Motion in Limine to Dismiss Plaintiff Norrine Boyle. (R. 326-355)

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES AND RULES

UCA §30-2-11: Action for consortium due to personal injury.

- (1) For purposes of this section:
 - (a) “injury” or injured” means a significant permanent injury to a person that substantially changes that person’s lifestyle and includes the following:
 - (i) a partial or complete paralysis of one or more of the extremities;
 - (ii) significant disfigurement; or
 - (iii) incapability of the person of performing the types of jobs the person performed before the injury; and
 - (b) “spouse” means the legal relationship:
 - (i) established between a man and a woman as recognized by the laws of this state; and
 - (ii) existing at the time of the person’s injury.
- (2) The spouse of a person injured by a third party on or after May 4, 1997, may maintain an action against the third party to recover for loss of consortium.
- (3) A claim for loss of consortium begins on the date of injury to the spouse. The statute of limitations applicable to the injured person shall also apply to the spouse's claim of loss of consortium.
- (4) A claim for the spouse's loss of consortium shall be:
 - (a) made at the time the claim of the injured person is made and joinder of actions shall be compulsory; and
 - (b) subject to the same defenses, limitations, immunities, and provisions applicable to the claims of the injured person.
- (5) The spouse's action for loss of consortium:
 - (a) shall be derivative from the cause of action existing in behalf of the injured person; and
 - (b) may not exist in cases where the injured person would not have a cause of action.
- (6) Fault of the spouse of the injured person, as well as fault of the injured person, shall be compared with the fault of all other parties, pursuant to Sections 78B-5-817 through 78B-5-823, for purposes of reducing or barring any recovery by the spouse for loss of consortium.
- (7) Damages awarded for loss of consortium, when combined with any award to the injured person for general damages, may not

exceed any applicable statutory limit on noneconomic damages, including Section 78B-3-410.

- (8) Damages awarded for loss of consortium which a governmental entity is required to pay, when combined with any award to the injured person which a governmental entity is required to pay, may not exceed the liability limit for one person in any one occurrence under Title 63G, Chapter 7, Governmental Immunity Act of Utah.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the case, course of proceedings, and disposition below

Plaintiff John Boyle filed a Complaint on or about July 14, 2005, alleging that defendant was responsible for an automobile / pedestrian accident on July 22, 2004 in which Mr. Boyle was injured. (R. 1-5) Mr. Boyle's spouse, Norrine Boyle, was subsequently allowed to intervene as a plaintiff, alleging loss of consortium.² (R. 105-05)

On January 8, 2008, Defendant filed a Motion in Limine requesting dismissal of Norrine Boyle's Loss of Consortium claim, arguing that Mrs. Boyle's claim lacked the necessary evidentiary support to meet the statutory requirements of Utah Code Ann. § 30-2-11. (R. 240-316) In opposing the motion, Mrs. Boyle argued that Mr. Boyle's testimony was sufficient to establish both significant disfigurement and partial incapacity, either of which would meet the statutory threshold for loss of consortium. (R. 326-55) After oral argument, the trial court granted Defendant's Motion in Limine to dismiss Plaintiff Norrine Boyle's Loss of Consortium Claim (R. 528), entering an order to that effect on May 28, 2008. (R. 532-534) (attached hereto as Addendum Exhibit 1).)

Plaintiff John Boyle's claims for damages (defendant stipulated to liability) were tried to a jury from June 3-6, 2008. Prior to trial, both parties provided proposed Jury Questionnaires to the trial court. (R. 436-40; 596-600.) The court took these two sets of instructions, to which neither party objected, and culled and then combined them into one

² For convenience, and because Norrine Boyle's claim was dismissed prior to trial, plaintiffs are referred to collectively as "Plaintiff" herein, except where otherwise stated.

document. During jury selection on June 3, 2008, the court conducted oral voir dire using the document it had created. The court declined to ask any of the Plaintiff's questions designed to reveal possible juror biases regarding tort reform, nor was Plaintiff afforded an opportunity to question the jurors on the tort reform issues. (R. 693, pp. 25-98)

Later, during closing argument, Defendant's counsel, arguing that Mr. Boyle's compensatory damage analysis would result in an excessive verdict, exclaimed, "That's how we get verdicts like in the McDonald's case with a cup of coffee." (R. 695, p. 48:17-22) The trial court overruled Plaintiff's objection that the comment was not supported by the evidence and was prejudicial. (R. 695, pp. 48:23-49:5)

Despite significant injuries, including a back surgery, the jury returned a verdict of only \$62,500, including medical expenses, which included only \$27,800 in non-economic damages. The trial court entered the Final Verdict on the Judgment June 20, 2008. (R. 669-673) Plaintiffs timely appealed. (R.674-75)

Facts

On July 22, 2004, Plaintiff John Boyle was struck by a pick-up truck while he was in a crosswalk in front of a Smith's grocery store. (R. 241) Prior to trial, Defendant admitted liability for the accident. (R. 241)

Mr. Boyle was originally treated by a chiropractor, but once an MRI revealed a ruptured disc at the L4-5 level in his lower back, he was referred to an orthopedic

surgeon, Junius J. Clawson. When non-surgical treatments failed, Dr. Clawson (assisted by Dr. Reed Fogg) performed back surgery on Mr. Boyle at Cottonwood Hospital on November 5, 2004. (R. 339-40)

Dr. Clawson found, in performing the surgery, that Mr. Boyle's L5 nerve root was severely compressed by the herniation of the disc. It was Dr. Clawson's opinion that the disc herniation was caused by the July 22, 2004 auto-pedestrian accident. (R. 339-40)

Although the surgery provided some relief, it proved to be largely unsuccessful. As a result, Mr. Boyle has been left with permanent chronic pain. Since the accident, Mr. Boyle has not been able to sleep in a bed and is only able to get limited sleep in a recliner. His lack of sleep causes problems with everything that he does. It has not precluded him from working at a sedentary job, but even at that kind of work, it has interfered with his productiveness and precluded him from working full eight hour days. He is not able to perform employment with any significant physical demands and can no longer even carry small baskets of golf balls. Prior to the accident, Mr. Boyle was an accomplished golfer, and, at one point in his adult life, worked as the golf pro at a golf course. Now, according to Mr. Boyle, his chronic pain and lack of sleep "permeates everything that I do." (R. 261-62)

Based upon the foregoing, Mr. Boyle's wife of many years, Norrine, asserted a claim for loss of consortium. Prior to trial, Defendant filed a Motion in Limine to dismiss Norrine Boyle's claim. The Defendant admitted that Mr. Boyle had alleged a significant

permanent injury, and that whether it substantially changed his lifestyle was a disputed fact. (R. 363) However, Defendant argued that, as a matter of law, Plaintiff was not incapable of performing the “same types of jobs that he performed before the injury,” and therefore no claim for loss of consortium could be made. (R. 363) The trial court dismissed Mrs. Boyle’s claims as a matter of law. (R. 532-34)

Subsequently, Mr. Boyle’s claims proceeded to trial. Consistent with the court’s Case Management Order, Plaintiff submitted a written request for examination of potential jurors. (R. 596-600) Because a substantial part of John Boyle’s claims were for general damages for chronic pain, Plaintiff sought insight into the jurors’ attitudes and potential biases regarding general damages and awards for pain and suffering. Plaintiff’s proposed two-page questionnaire sought to explore, among other things, the jurors’ attitudes concerning people who bring personal injury lawsuits (Section 4 and 5)³; their attitudes concerning money damages for pain and suffering (Section 6)⁴; and their attitudes concerning statutory limits on pain and suffering awards (Section 7)⁵. (R. 599)

³ 4: What are your feelings or opinions about people who bring personal injury lawsuits?

5: If you were seriously hurt or injured by the negligence of another, would you sue? Please explain your answer: (R. 599)

⁴ 6: If supported by the evidence, could you award money damages for

a. Future physical pain ☐ yes ☐ no

b. Mental anguish ☐ yes ☐ no

c. The impact on a wife of partially disabling injuries to her husband?

d. Future medical bills ☐ yes ☐ no

If you answered NO to any of the above, please explain: (R. 599)

⁵ 7. Do you believe the law should impose limits on money that can be awarded for pain and suffering: ☐ yes ☐ no If YES, what do you believe these limitations should be? (R. 599)

The trial court declined to use the questionnaire, or to ask Plaintiff's questions set forth in Sections 4, 5, 6 and 7. (R. 536)

At trial, although the defendant admitted liability for causing the accident (R. 693, p. 6:20-21), the defense strategy centered on casting Mr. Boyle in a negative light for requesting a substantial amount of money for his injuries. This theme was carried too far in closing arguments where defense counsel (over objection) compared Mr. Boyle's claimed damages to those made in an unrelated 1994 case often referred to as the "McDonald's coffee case":

Ms. Van Orman: It's a per diem analysis. How many days has it been since the accident? How many days for the rest of his life? And how much per day is that worth? That's what been done here. That's how we get verdicts like in the McDonald's case with a cup of coffee.

(R. 695, p. 48:17-22)

Plaintiff's counsel objected on the grounds that the statement addressed a matter not in evidence and was prejudicial, but the objection was overruled. (R. 695, pp. 48:17-49:5) The jury returned a very low verdict of only \$62,500, of which only \$27,800 was awarded for general damages.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This court has consistently held that plaintiffs are entitled during jury *voir dire* to information regarding potential jurors attitudes gleaned from a jury questionnaire or other means to detect tort reform biases and to exercise peremptory challenges intelligently. Here, the trial court allowed injury-specific questions that aided the Defendant in the

exercise of his peremptory challenges, but did not allow any questions designed to ferret out jurors' potential biases regarding tort reform and personal injury lawsuits, prejudicing plaintiff.

The plaintiff was further prejudiced in closing arguments when defendant referenced an unrelated, nationally notorious tort reform case, the "McDonald's coffee case." Defendant's mention of this case was intended to inflame the juror's prejudices regarding excessive damages being awarded, which was highly prejudicial to the plaintiff in this "damages only" lawsuit.

Finally, the trial court erred in dismissing plaintiff Norrine Boyle's consortium claim prior to trial. As the facts and reasonable inferences drawn therefrom show that Mr. Boyle was incapable of performing his two jobs in the same manner or to the same extent he was prior to the accident, which is sufficient to meet the statutory threshold for loss of consortium.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DECLINING TO ASK PLAINTIFF'S REQUESTED VOIR DIRE QUESTIONS CONCERNING PROSPECTIVE JURORS' POTENTIAL BIASES REGARDING TORT REFORM.

Pursuant to the Scheduling Order in place, Plaintiff provided the court with a proposed Request for Submission of a Jury Questionnaire and for Reasonable Follow Up Voir Dire which included his short, two-page, questionnaire. (R. 599-600) Shortly thereafter, the Defendant also submitted a Proposed Voir Dire. In that document, Defendant specifically did not “object to the questionnaire submitted by plaintiffs...” (R. 436). The trial court, off the record, made the determination that it would create jury questions that it would then use to personally voir dire the jury. The court omitted Plaintiff's questions intended to elicit jurors' views regarding general damages and tort reform in general:

4: What are your feelings or opinions about people who bring personal injury lawsuits? If supported by the evidence, could you award a large amount of money to the plaintiff in this case?

5: If you were seriously hurt or injured by the negligence of another, would you sue? Please explain your answer:

6: If supported by the evidence, could you award money damages for

a. Future physical pain ☐ yes ☐ no

b. Mental anguish ☐ yes ☐ no

c. The impact on a wife of partially disabling injuries to her husband?

d. Future medical bills ☐ yes ☐ no

If you answered NO to any of the above, please explain:

7. Do you believe the law should impose limits on money that can be awarded for pain and suffering: ☐ yes ☐ no If YES, what do you believe these limitations should be?

(R. 599)

Instead, the court asked the jury only the 15 questions that it had fashioned, none of which addressed tort reform. (*See Addendum Exh. 3.*) From the tenor and language of the questions asked, it appears that the trial court might have been attempting to identify jurors who might be subject to *for cause* challenges, but it wholly disregarded the Plaintiff's need to gather information to assist in exercising *peremptory* challenges.

The only questions that were arguably designed to elicit responses regarding biases were the trial court's questions 13, 14 and 15:

13. Do you have any feelings or beliefs that would prevent you from being fair and impartial regarding persons who have personal injury disputes and who choose to resolve those disputes by going to court?
14. Do you have any personal religious or other beliefs that would prevent you from awarding damages in a large amount, small amount, or zero amount, if warranted and justified by the evidence and the law given you by the Court?
15. Given all considerations and everything you know about this case so far, can you be fair, impartial, neutral, judge of the facts and follow the law as given to you by the Court?

(R. 536)

Not surprisingly, prospective jurors who were asked these general questions answered "No, No, and Yes," without elaboration. (R. 693, pgs. 33, 39, 41, 47, 51, 55-

56, 61, 62, 64, 65, 70, 73, 79, 82, 84, and 89). The questions were neither designed to, nor did they, elicit any information about the individuals' views regarding personal injury lawsuits or tort reform.

This Court has repeatedly reminded trial courts that parties are entitled to seek information from prospective jurors regarding their views on these issues. *See Alcazar v. U of U Hospitals*, 2008 UT App 222, ¶¶ 5, 19, 188 P.3d 490 (noting “rather direct authority” and “prior, clear precedents” establishing plaintiffs’ entitlement to *voir dire* questions regarding tort reform), citing *Evans v. Doty*, 824 P.2d 460 (Utah App. 1991) and *Barrett v. Peterson*, 868 P.2d 96 (Utah App. 1993).

In *Alcazar*, the trial court reviewed the plaintiffs’ requested *voir dire* but declined to ask the questions the plaintiffs wanted in order to elicit jurors’ potential biases regarding medical malpractice claims and tort reform. Instead, as in this case, the court decided to ask more general questions. *Id.*, ¶¶ 5-7. The jury returned a verdict finding the defendant not negligent.

The *Alcazar* court was very clear as to why the trial court’s *voir dire* procedure was both erroneous and prejudicial. First, the court discussed its holding in *Evans*, in which the trial court had asked a line of general questions regarding fairness and impartiality that “was only effective in identifying proper for-cause challenges.” Such narrow questioning was insufficient, this Court held:

The trial court’s questions did not allow the plaintiff an opportunity to know which of the prospective jurors had been exposed to tort reform

propaganda, totally aside from whether the prospective jurors would themselves admit such exposure had changed their attitudes or biased them. Essentially, we concluded that the trial judge's line of questions ignored the plaintiff's need to gather information to assist in exercising her peremptory challenges.

Alcazar, 2008 UT App 222, ¶12 (emphasis in original; citations omitted).

In *Barrett*, this Court again reversed a trial court's refusal to ask about exposure to tort reform information, depriving the plaintiff of "information necessary both to detect actual bias and to intelligently exercise his peremptory challenges." *Id.*, ¶ 13, quoting *Barrett*, 868 P.2d at 102 n.7. In both *Evans* and *Barrett*, the *Alcazar* court noted, the plaintiffs had not been given an opportunity to "determine which, if any, prospective jurors had been exposed to tort reform propaganda, much less whether that exposure produced hidden or subconscious biases affecting the jurors' ability to render a fair and impartial verdict." *Id.* at ¶14.

Alcazar then observed that, under *Evans* and *Barrett*, "our inquiry does not end once we have established that the trial court abused its discretion in failing to ask any meaningful tort reform . . . questions during voir dire." *Id.* at ¶15. Once the determination has been made that a party was substantially impaired in its right to exercise peremptory challenges, "[w]e will reverse if, considering the totality of the questioning, counsel was not afforded an adequate opportunity to gain the information necessary to evaluate the jurors. *Id.* at ¶15 (internal citations to quotes omitted).

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