2008

John Boyle and Norrine Boyle v. Kerry Chirstensen : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This appeal comes from the order dismissing Norrine Boyle's loss of consortium claim, issued by the Third Judicial District Court, Salt Lake County, dated May 28, 2008. Plaintiff John Boyle also appeals two of the Third Judicial District Court's decisions during the Trial of this matter, dated June 3-6, 2008. The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(a)(j) and 78A-4-103(j).

ISSUES ON APPEAL

The following issues are presented to this Court for review:

1. Whether the trial court abused its discretion (*Barrett v. Peterson*, 868 P.2d 96, 98 (Utah Ct. App. 1993)) by asking Plaintiff's tort reform questions listed in his questionnaire in amended form and whether Plaintiff properly preserved this issue by simply proposing the jury questionnaire in the first place, but not objecting to the court's actions or requesting that the original questions be listed in the final questionnaire.
2. Whether the trial court abused its discretion when it overruled Plaintiff's objection to a harmless closing argument reference to a well-known case in an effort to defend her client against Plaintiff counsel's prejudicial use of a per diem damages analysis.
3. Whether the trial court correctly granted Defendant's Motion in Limine dismissing Norrine Boyle's loss of consortium claim.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Unhappy with the jury's decision, Plaintiff now attempts to get a second bite at the apple by appealing what he calls three "reversible errors" by the trial court. It is clear that Plaintiff is grasping as the "errors" alleged in appellants' brief are not errors at all, but simply instances in which the court made a decision that he did not particularly agree with. However, an essential component of disagreeing with a court's decision, is that counsel make that objection known to the court; Plaintiff's counsel failed to do so in during this trial.

Plaintiff is not entitled to have a jury questionnaire presented in the exact depth and extent as he claims. However, even if Plaintiff is entitled to have the exact questions he proposed on his questionnaire asked during voir dire, his attorney failed to preserve the issue for appeal when he did not object after the trial court elected to submit a questionnaire in amended form.

Moreover, defense counsel's harmless reference to the "McDonald's Coffee" case was properly ruled upon by the trial court judge. Defense counsel used the reference in an effort to cast light on Plaintiff counsel's attempt to inflate the damages by presenting them as part of a per diem analysis. Defense counsel's closing argument references were a valid attempt to expose opposing counsel's highly prejudicial technique and defend her client against an excessive judgment. Regardless, even if it was error, it was harmless.

Lastly, Plaintiff's wife, Norrine Boyle, was not injured in this case. The legislature has set forth very specific rules for a loss of consortium claims; Plaintiff's injuries simply do not rise to the level required for his wife, Mrs. Boyle to sustain her claim for loss of consortium.

STATEMENT OF MATERIAL BACKGROUND FACTS

1. On July 22, 2004 plaintiff John Boyle was hit by a vehicle which was traveling at a very low speed in a Smith's parking lot. Plaintiff described the impact as follows:

Q. Okay. Tell me what part of his vehicle struck what part of your body.
A. The left front bumper, hood and tire struck me.
Q. Okay.
A. And as near as -- as near as I can figure, he hit me on the left-hand side front and then I turned because I was bruised on my left side on my arm, my hip, my leg and my shin. So that's all I have to go by.
Q. Okay.
A. I was sore other places, but that was where the impact occurred.
Q. Okay. Were you able to remain upright?
A. I was. I rode up on his hood and grabbed the bumper and the wheel well and stayed upright, otherwise I would have gone down.

(R. 240, Plaintiff Dep. pp. 23:23-24:14; R244-245, 258-259.)

2. Mr. Boyle did not seek out medical attention for injuries allegedly related to this accident until five days after the accident, when he sought only chiropractic treatment from Walter Wagner for left-sided, lower back and buttock pain on July 26, 2004. (See Wagner Records, R. 245 at 267-316.)

3. Mr. Boyle was an existing patient of Dr. Wagner, having seen him for similar left lower back, buttock and leg problems several times prior to the subject accident. Indeed, Mr. Boyle received treatment from Dr. Wagner for these problems as recently as June, 2004, the month prior to the accident. (Id.)
4. Mr. Boyle's medical records and imaging studies demonstrate that he had been complaining of back pain for almost 40 years prior to the July, 2004 accident. Moreover, imaging studies demonstrate that Mr. Boyle was suffering from severe degenerative disc disease at L5-S1 as far back as January of 1990. (Id.)
5. From the date of the accident through May 9, 2005, Mr. Boyle sought chiropractic treatment from Dr. Wagner 23 times. However, 22 of the 23 treatments came in the ten weeks following the accident. After the 23rd treatment, on May 9, 2005, Mr. Boyle did not receive any chiropractic treatment for back pain or injuries for the twelve months. (Id.)
6. On May 19, 2006, Mr. Boyle began receiving chiropractic back treatments again after a separate and unrelated trip and fall accident at work.
(Plaintiff's Dep., R. 260-61(pp. 41:24-42:13.))
7. At the time of his deposition, Mr. Boyle was employed at O'Curran, an

inbound call center, and had been there since December 12, 2005. He made between \$20 to \$35 an hour (depending upon his sales numbers), put in 30 hours a week and received health insurance benefits. (Id. at R. 253-54 (pp. 9-10.)) Mr. Boyle had no plans to quit working at O'Curran. (Id.)

8. At the time of the accident, Mr. Boyle was working for Mascot Financial where he was doing almost exactly the same type of work that he currently does for O'Curran.

Q. Tell me what some of your job responsibilities are now currently on the phone.

A. I just take incoming phone calls, people who have an interest in getting out of debt, and then sell them the product, which is a \$350 product.

....

Q. Okay. Now, tell me what you did for Mascot Financial.

A. You generate your own leads calling people and it's a debt reduction plan as well.

(Id. at R. 254-55(pp. 10:8-11, 11:23-25))

9. Mr. Boyle testified that from August 2004 to December 12, 2005, he could not work anywhere because of his back pain and thus he was unemployed.
(R. 247(p. 13:1.))

10. However, Mr. Boyle admitted later in his deposition that he is an avid golfer and as such, worked at the Glenmoor golf course in West Jordan eight to 16 hours a week between August, 2004 and December of 2005. (R. 262-

266(pp. 46, 50:10-16.)) Presumably, Mr. Boyle slowed down at the golf course when he got the job at O'Curran on December 12, 2005.

Procedural History

11. Prior to trial, on May 21, 2008, the trial court granted Defendant's motion in limine to dismiss plaintiff Norrine Boyle as she had not met the statutory requirements for making a loss of consortium claim. (R. 532-34.)
12. Soon thereafter, this matter was tried before a jury from June 3-6, 2008.
13. Immediately preceding the trial, proposed jury questionnaires were provided to the court by each party. These questionnaires were received by the court and then implemented into a single questionnaire that was created according to the trial court's discretion. (R. 436-40; 596-600.)
14. Neither party objected to the questionnaire that was ultimately fashioned by the court. The court used the questionnaire it fashioned during oral voir dire and asked extensive follow-up questions while the jury was responding to the questionnaire; again, there were no objections. (R. 693, Jury Selection Transcript at pp. 25-89, attached as Addendum Exhibit A.)
15. After the oral voir dire, the trial court met in chambers with counsel for both parties. (*Id.* at 90:13-21.) At this time, there was only one challenge for cause by counsel for the defendant/appellee, which was denied by the

court. (Id. at 91:4-92:16.) During this meeting in chambers, there were no objections to the questionnaire as posed by the trial court and there were no requests to ask additional questions designed to reveal possible juror biases regarding tort reform or ask questions regarding tort reform issues. Indeed, the only request was by counsel for the defendant, who expressed a desire to ask further questions of juror number 8. (Id. at 92:21.)

16. When the jury pool was brought back before the judge, he asked many additional questions of juror number 8. (Id. at 93-97.) After his questioning, the court invited counsel for both parties up for a bench conference and specifically asked if they any further questions, and both parties indicated that they had nothing further. (Id. at 97:10-18.)
17. Both parties then passed the jury panel for cause, (id. at 97:21-98:3) and after the preemptory challenges were made, a jury was selected. At this point, both parties clearly indicated that the jury that eventually impaneled, was the jury that they had selected. (Id. at 99:10-20.)
18. Not one objection was raised during the entire jury selection process. Moreover, the only additional questions requested, were the follow-up questions requested by counsel for the defendant, which the court promptly asked.

19. During closing arguments, counsel for defendant made an innocuous reference to another case in order to make a point:

The third main issue in this case is Mr. Boyle's pain and suffering. What has he been like since the accident? What's expected in the future? Ladies and gentlemen, they want a lot of money for this. A lot of money. What's been written on the board is called a per diem analysis.

Sometimes people like to use that in --

MR. CHRISTENSEN: I object to this, your Honor.

THE COURT: Your objection is overruled.

MS. VAN ORMAN: It's a per diem analysis. How many days has it been since the accident? How many days for the rest of his life? And how much per day is that worth? That's what's been done here. That's how we get verdicts like in the McDonald's case with a cup of coffee.

MR. CHRISTENSEN: Objection.

THE COURT: What's the basis of your objection? You are not stating those succinctly, the legal basis.

MR. CHRISTENSEN: My objection is it's prejudicial and it's not in evidence.

THE COURT: Okay. Your objection is noted but overruled.

(Closing Argument Transcript at R. 695, pp. 48:7-49:5, attached as Addendum Exhibit

B.)

20. After having heard all the evidence, which included extensive medical expert testimony, the jury rendered a verdict for \$62,500.00, which was substantially more when interest was added. (R. 669-673.) Unhappy with the jury's decision, Plaintiffs' appealed. (R. 674-75.)

ARGUMENT

POINT I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY ASKING ITS OWN VOIR DIRE QUESTIONS BECAUSE THE COURT HAS “CONSIDERABLE DISCRETION” AND PLAINTIFF DID NOT OBJECT.

The trial court properly fashioned the voir dire questionnaire for potential jurors because it has been granted with great latitude in conducting the jury selection process. Moreover, counsel for Plaintiff did not object to the court’s questionnaire, its extensive follow-up questions or ever request to ask additional tort reform related questions.

While the trial court is required to permit parties to supplement voir dire with questions that are material and proper, the court also has “considerable discretion to ‘contain voir dire within reasonable limits.’” Utah R. Civ Proc. Rule 47(a); Ostler v. Albina Transfer Co., Inc., 781 P.2d 445, 447 (Utah App. 1989). In similar cases, this court has held that whether the trial court abused its discretion is based on the “totality of the questioning.” Ostler, 781 P.2d at 447.

Further, to preserve the right to have a trial issue reviewed on appeal, “the challenging party must point to record evidence to show that they preserved the issue in the trial court.” Utah R. Civ. Proc. Rule 24(a)(5)(A); Ostler, 781 P.2d at 447. It is extremely important that the appellant raised the issue on appeal “in a timely fashion . . . specifically . . . and supported by evidence or relevant legal authority” because the trial court should be “given an opportunity to address a claimed error and, if appropriate,

correct it.” Utah R. App. Proc. Rule 24(j); Williams v. Bench, 193 P.3d 640, 649 (Utah App. 2008). Indeed, timely objection is such an important step that if appellants fail to make the necessary objection clearly and on the record, then they are “deemed to have waived the issue.” Lamb v. B & B Amusements Corp., 869 P.2d 926, 931 (Utah 1993).

A. The Questionnaire Adequately Addressed Tort Reform.

Thus, Appellants must show two things: (1) that they preserved their objection and (2) that the court’s ruling on their objection was an abuse of discretion.

In Ostler, the plaintiff brought a personal injury action against the driver of a commercial truck for an accident in which the plaintiff was paralyzed from the waist down. Ostler, 781 P.2d at 446. The jury found that the plaintiff’s own negligence was the “intervening and sole proximate cause” of the plaintiff’s injuries; plaintiff appealed. Id. One of the issues on appeal by the plaintiff/appellant was that the jury voir dire did not adequately reveal bias related to “tort reform.” Id. at 447. The judge refused to ask the plaintiff’s proposed questions and instead asked the potential jurors would object to providing a large claim (exceeding a million dollars), if they believed people should not resort to the courts to resolve disputes or recover damages, and whether any “believed they were incapable of rendering a fair and true verdict based on the evidence.” Id.

On appeal, the Utah Court of Appeals found that the trial court’s modified “questions [were] substantively responsive to plaintiff’s concerns and appear[ed]

sufficient to reveal ‘tort reform’ bias.” Id. Accordingly, the court upheld the trial court’s use of discretion when conducting the voir dire of prospective jurors.

Here, as in Ostler, the court asked the potential jurors fifteen questions that were sufficient, in their totality and in context, to reveal any tort reform bias, including:

13. Do you have any feelings or beliefs that would prevent you from being fair and impartial regarding persons who have personal injury disputes and who choose to resolve those disputes by going to court?
14. Do you have any personal religious or other beliefs that would prevent you from awarding damages in a large amount, small amount, or zero amount, if warranted and justified by the evidence and the law given you by the Court?
15. Given all considerations and everything you know about this case so far, can you be fair, impartial, neutral, judge of the facts and follow the law as given to you by the Court?

(R. 536)

Plaintiff’s contention that questions 13-14 did not address his tort reform questions is unfounded. Not only did the court, in its discretion, ask questions adequate to ferret out biases regarding tort reform, it asked extensive follow-up questions of the jury during oral voir dire in order to discover any potential bias or prejudice. The trial court is granted substantial discretion during the jury selection process and clearly did not abuse that discretion in this trial.

Plaintiff cites to Alcazar v. U. of U. Hosp., 188 P.3d 490 (UT. App. 2008) in support of his argument that the judgment in this case should be reversed. However, Alcazar is distinguishable from this case.

The underlying facts of Alcazar are different than the case at bar. In Alcazar, the underlying claim was for medical malpractice. Plaintiff proposed a jury questionnaire that contained questions specific to biases and prejudices with regard to medical malpractice claims. In this case, the underlying case deals with an auto/pedestrian accident, but the questions Plaintiff argues should have been asked deal with tort reform in general. Plaintiff's questions dealt with general tort reform opinions and the Court's modified questions also generally dealt with the issues related to tort reform. As such, the court's questions were just as adequate as Plaintiff's to garner information in order to make a preemptory challenge. Nevertheless, Plaintiff failed to preserve this issue for an appeal.

B. Plaintiff Did Not Preserve the Issue for Appeal.

Regardless of whether or not the court abused its discretion in opting not to ask the exact questions proposed by Plaintiff, the issue was simply not preserved for appeal. Plaintiff's silence during the trial on this issue is fatal to his appeal.

In Lamb v. B & B Amusements Corp., the court of appeals declined to consider an issue on appeal when the plaintiff failed to make an objection on the record. 869 P.2d at 931. In Lamb, the plaintiff objected to the admission of an expert's testimony and argued that "an appropriate objection was made at a side bar conference" to that part of the expert's testimony. However, the court found that this action was not sufficient because

the plaintiff's had not adequately preserved the objections on the record. Id.

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